
Parkside  Station Approach  Burton Street  Melton Mowbray  Leicestershire  LE13 1GH
01664 502502 * contactus@melton.gov.uk * www.melton.gov.uk * @MeltonBC

Agenda
Meeting name Planning Committee
Date Thursday, 26 September 2019
Start time 6.00 pm
Venue Parkside, Station Approach, Burton Street, 

Melton Mowbray, Leicestershire, LE13 1GH
Other information This meeting is open to the public

Members of the Planning Committee are invited to attend the above meeting 
to consider the following items of business.

Edd de Coverly
Chief Executive

Membership

Councillors M. Glancy (Chair) P. Posnett (Vice-Chair)
P. Chandler P. Cumbers
J. Douglas P. Faulkner
L. Higgins E. Holmes
J. Illingworth M. Steadman
P. Wood

Quorum: 4 Councillors

Meeting enquiries Democratic Services Team
Email democracy@melton.gov.uk 
Agenda despatched Tuesday, 17 September 2019

Public Document Pack



Page 2 of 2

No. Item Page No.

1.  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

2.  MINUTES
To confirm the minutes of the previous meeting held on 29 August 
2019.

1 - 10

3.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
Members to declare any interest as appropriate in respect of items to 
be considered at this meeting.

11 - 12

4.  SCHEDULE OF APPLICATIONS

4 .1  18/01183/FUL
Land off Colston Lane, Harby.

13 - 34

4 .2  18/01090/CL
2 Manor Lane, Goadby Marwood.

This item has been withdrawn.

5.  URGENT BUSINESS
To consider any other items that the Chair considers urgent



1 Planning Committee : 290819

Minutes

Present:

Chair Councillor M. Glancy (Chair)

Councillors P. Chandler P. Cumbers
J. Douglas P. Faulkner
L. Higgins J. Illingworth
M. Steadman P. Wood
R. Smedley (Substitute)

Observers

Officers Solicitor To The Council (RP)
Assistant Director for Strategic Planning and Regulatory Services
Development Manager (LP)
Administrative Assistant (JD)

Meeting name Planning Committee
Date Thursday, 29 August 2019
Start time 6.00 pm
Venue Parkside, Station Approach, Burton Street, 

Melton Mowbray, Leicestershire, LE13 1GH

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



2 Planning Committee : 290819

Minute 
No.

Minute

PL123 Apologies for Absence
Apologies were received from Cllr E Holmes.
Apologies were received from Cllr P Posnett.  Councillor Smedley attended as 
substitute.

PL124 Minutes
The minutes of the meeting of the Planning Committee held on 25 July 2019 were 
confirmed as a correct record and signed by the Chairman.

The minutes of the meeting of the Planning Committee held on 1 August 2019 were 
confirmed as a correct record and signed by the Chairman.

PL125 Declarations of Interest
Cllr Chandler declared that she had a personal interest in Item 4.6 17/00299/OUT.

PL126 Schedule of Applications

PL127 19/00217/FUL
Applicant: Countryside Properties (UK) Limited 
Location: Land west of Bowling Green, Leicester Road, , Melton Mowbray
Proposal: 14 residential dwellings comprising 10 x 2 bed units and 4 x 3 

bed units.

The Assistant Director for Strategic Planning and Regulatory Services addressed 
the committee and provided a brief summary of the application and the update as 
contained within the report.

Cllr Higgins highlighted that the update provided a good compromise between 
securing developer contributions, whilst still achieving affordable housing and an 
improved housing mix.  An application for 10 houses or less on the same site would 
result in no developer contribution or affordable housing.  He expressed that his 
preference would be for Rent-to-buy on Plots 108 & 109.

The Chairman proposed to suspend the procedure rules contained within Chapter 
2, Part 9, Para 2.8-2.28 of the Council’s Constitution in relation to public speaking 
at Planning Committee, in order to allow the Agent on behalf of the applicant to give 
a 4 minute presentation.  Members agreed to suspend the procedures rules.  
Notice had not been provided due issues with emails.

The Agent  confirmed the revised tenure mix as contained within the report.  He 
also confirmed that they had a registered provider and would be able to provide 14 
affordable homes within 12 months.  The landscaping scheme had also been 
improved.

During discussion the following points were noted:
Page 2



3 Planning Committee : 290819

i. Members requested clarification as to whether the amount of the developer 
contribution could be less than the £50,000 detailed in the report. It was 
confirmed that this figure was subject to the viability report and therefore 
could be less than £50,000, but may also come back as more.

ii. The solicitor to the Council confirmed that the amount was subject to the 
outcome of the viability report, members could choose to defer until that 
report was received, or may delegate the final decision to an officer.

iii. Members agreed that the profit margins for this site would make it unlikely 
that the report would come back with a figure much higher than £50,000 and 
that to defer any further could have a negative impact on the viability.

Councillor Illingworth proposed that the application be approved in accordance with 
the recommendations, subject to any significant variation in the amount offered 
coming back to the committee and that the tenure of plots 108 and 109 be allocated 
as Rent to buy.  This was seconded by Councillor Cumbers.

RESOLVED

19/00217/FUL in accordance with the recommendation set out in Item 4.3 of the 
Agenda for the Planning Committee of 25 July 2019 and the additional 
recommendations set out in Item 4.1 of the Agenda for the Planning Committee 
Meeting of 29 August 2019 that the application be PERMITTED subject to:

i. The results of an independent viability review of the scope available for 
developer contributions confirming that the sum offered (£50,000) are the 
maximum achievable by the development ; 

ii. That should the viability review vary significantly from the sum offered, a 
report would be brought back to the Committee;

iii. The tenure for Plots 108 and 109 being allocated as Rent to Buy;
iv. The completion of a S.106 agreement to secure the revised housing mix 

now being offered, as well as the offered developer contributions in respect 
of education capacity and play equipment;

v. Conditions, as amended, set out in Appendix C of the Planning Committee 
report of 25th July 2019 and further clarified in Section 3.11 of this report.

(9 in favour, 1 abstention) 

Page 3



4 Planning Committee : 290819

PL128 18/01517/REM
18/01517/REM

Applicant: Jelson Ltd
Location: Field OS 0070, Hoby Road, Asfordby
Proposal: Approval of reserved matters related to access, appearance, 

layout and scale attached to outline approval 16/00570/OUT for 
the erection of 70 dwellings and provision of swales/drainage 
infrastructure/public open space.

The Development Manager addressed the Committee and provided a brief 
summary of the application. Mrs Parker clarified an error in the report and
confirmed that the emphasis in the report on the adjustment of affordable housing 
mix was incorrect, as it suggested the council were fulfilling the second part of a 
trade off, but it should be seeking agreement (for the first time) to such a deal 
based on the points made: provision needed more in Melton; Asfordby demand 
being met by current development etc. The Committee had the option of dealing 
with the reserved matters, deferring or refusing the affordable housing component 
or deferring decisions on both.

During discussion the following points were noted:

i. Members were concerned about the lack of detail on design provided in the 
street scenes.

ii. Members noted the absence of green spaces and play areas.
iii. Members expressed concern that there had been no representations from 

the Parish Council.
iv. Officers confirmed that the design reflected a continuation of the recently 

built near-by development.  There had been discussions with the developer 
regarding the design.

v. A design workshop would be arranged to include the Parish Councils, Ward 
Councillors, Chairman and Vice Chairman of Committee and relevant 
officers.

--o0o--
The Solicitor to the Council reminded members that any decision which was 

contrary to the officer recommendation would require clear reasons based on 
national and local planning policy considerations.

--o0o--

Councillor Higgins proposed that the application be deferred pending further work 
on character and design and addition of green spaces.  This was seconded by 
Councillor Illingworth.

RESOLVED

1) That application 18/01517/REM be DEFERRED pending submission of 
revised, more detailed design.
(7 in favour, 3 abstentions) 

Page 4



5 Planning Committee : 290819

2) To DEFER the request for a variation to the S106 agreement in order to 
revise the Affordable Housing Mix adjusting the provision from 28 units to 10 
on site (the residual provided for at Burton Rd, Melton Mowbray) to allow for 
clarification of the background.
(7 in favour, 3 abstentions)

PL129 19/00225/FUL
19/00225/FUL
Applicant: Mr Shawn Follows
Location:  Paddock Land, Barkestone Lane, Plungar
Proposal:  Use of land for 2 residential gypsy pitches (each pitch comprising 

the siting of one static caravan and 1 touring caravan and the 
erection of a day-room) and the erection of a stable.

The Development Manager addressed the Committee and provided a brief 
summary of the application.

Pursuant to Chapter 2, Part 9, Para 2.8-2.28 of the Council’s Constitution in relation 
to public speaking at Planning Committee, the Chairman allowed the
following to give a 4 minute presentation:

 Margaret Bowen (on behalf of the residents of Plungar) - Objector 
 Councillor Evans Ward Member for Long Clawson and Stathern - in support 

of the recommendations contained within the report.

During discussion the following points were noted:

i. Members supported the refusal of the application and agreed with all the 
reasons put forward in the report, with the addition of unsuitable location.

Councillor Chandler proposed the recommendations in the report.  Councillor 
Faulkner seconded the recommendations.

RESOLVED

19/00225/FUL in accordance with the recommendations set out in the report, that 
the application be REFUSED.
(Unanimous)

REASONS
 There is insufficient information submitted with the application and

therefore the LPA is not convinced that the need for the accommodation
sought has been proven and the proposal is considered contrary to
Policy C6 of the Melton Local Plan whereby all currently identified need is
met and there is currently no further requirement for any pitches from
April 2026 to 2036.

 Details of how the site would function and accommodate basic human
needs such as sewerage and energy sources have also not been

Page 5



6 Planning Committee : 290819

submitted as part of this application, it is noted that conditions could
secure this detail, however given that there is no information for
consideration the LPA is not convinced that these basic human needs

could be provided for on this isolated site.

PL130 19/00430/FUL
19/00430/FUL
Applicant: Mr & Mrs Brookes
Location:  Old Hall Stables, 3 Woolsthorpe Lane, Harston, NG32 1PT
Proposal: Erection of two storied 4 double bedroomed self-build family 

dwellinghouse and attached double carport.

The Development Manager addressed the Committee and provided a brief 
summary of the application.

The Chairman proposed to suspend procedure rules contained within Chapter 2, 
Part 9, Para 2.8-2.28 of the Council’s Constitution in relation to public speaking at 
Planning Committee, in order to allow the following to give a 4 minute presentation. 
Members agreed to suspend the procedures rules. Notice had not been provided 
due issues with emails:

 Mr Brown (Instructed on behalf of the residents of Harston Hall) – Objector
 Mr C Wilkinson – Agent on behalf of the applicant

During discussion the following points were noted:
i. The applicant could have done more to comply with Policy SS3 of the Local 

Plan.
ii. Members felt it fell short of the planning criteria and that the self contained 

annex described had been clarified by the agent as being the ground floor 
room currently designated as a study.

Councillor Cumbers proposed the recommendations contained within the report.  
Councillor Illingworth seconded the recommendations.

RESOLVED
19/00430/FUL in accordance with the recommendations set out in the report, that 
the application be REFUSED.
(8 in favour, 2 abstentions) 

REASONS
In the opinion of the Local Planning Authority the proposal would, if approved, 
result in the provision of an additional dwelling in an unsustainable location. The 
development occupies a location where there are limited local amenities, facilities 
and jobs, and where future occupiers are likely to depend highly on the use of a 
private motor vehicle. The proposal does not meet an identified proven local need 
and would be contrary to Policy SS3 of the Local Plan which seeks to restrict 
development in such settlements to that which is based on a local proven need 
(and subject to other criteria). 

Page 6



7 Planning Committee : 290819

PL131 19/00659/OUT
19/00659/OUT

Applicant: Alan Baggaley
Location:  Former Army Camp, Main Road, Redmile
Proposal:  Construction of new two storey dwelling, associated outbuildings, 

means of access and enclosure, landscaping.

The Development Manager addressed the Committee and provided a brief 
summary of the application. Mrs Parker confirmed that there had been no 
objections from ecology and so reason for refusal number 4 should be disregarded.  
It was also confirmed, as a result of concerns regarding previous use as a military 
site, that screening could be carried out on the site.  

Pursuant to Chapter 2, Part 9, Para 2.8-2.28 of the Council’s Constitution in relation 
to public speaking at Planning Committee, the Chairman allowed the
following to give a 4 minute presentation:

 Mr A Baggaley – Applicant
 Councillor Evans Ward Member for Long Clawson and Stathern - in support 

of the recommendations contained within the report.

During discussion the following points were noted:

i. Members felt there were amenities closer to the site than the report 
indicated.

ii. Members had not been aware of the intention to build a zero carbon 
emission build which focused on sustainability and enhancing the local 
wildlife until they had heard from the applicant at the meeting.

Councillor Illingworth proposed that the application was deferred to allow the 
applicant to formalise the specification as described in his presentation to the 
Committee.  This was seconded by Councillor Cumbers.

RESOLVED

That application 19/00659/OUT be DEFERRED to allow for greater detail and 
clarification of the proposed environmentally friendly aspects of the design and 
development to be provided.
(Unanimous)

--o0o--
The Chairman adjourned the meeting for a 3 minute comfort break.

--o0o—
The Chairman reconvened the meeting.

Page 7



8 Planning Committee : 290819

  --o0o--

PL132 19/00227/REM
19/00227/REM

Applicant: Mr Peter Kirk 
Location:  Land Adj 3 Main Street, Great Dalby
Proposal: Approval of the reserved matters relating to outline approval 

16/00883/OUT (a) the scale of the development; (b) the layout of 
the development; (c) the external appearance of the development.

The Assistant Director for Strategic Planning and Regulatory Services addressed 
the committee.  Following the site visit, he had been asked to look the merits of zinc 
roofs and confirmed that zinc roofs provided a combination of being 
environmentally friendly, durable and aesthetically attractive.  Zinc is readily 
recyclable, the impact f the roofs soften over time and they can have a 100 year 
lifetime.

Pursuant to Chapter 2, Part 9, Para 2.8-2.28 of the Council’s Constitution in relation 
to public speaking at Planning Committee, the Chairman allowed the
following to give a 4 minute presentation:

 Mrs Linda Moore – Objector
 Mr Chris Wood – Agent on behalf of the applicant

During discussion the following points were noted:
i. Officers confirmed that though one of the plans that was conditioned cannot 

be found The outline permission is however clear that the scale, layout and 
appearance were reserved matters.

ii. Some members believed that the contemporary design was not in keeping 
with being in the heart of a conservation area, whereas others felt that it was 
sensitive to the surrounding area and that the impact of the materials would 
soften over time.

iii. Members noted that the site had both traditional cottages and modern estate 
housing near-by.  Officers confirmed that the modern housing was also 
within the conservation area.

The Solicitor to the Council reminded members that the need to “conserve and 
enhance” was subjective and would permit different views.

Councillor Faulkner proposed that the application be refused against officer 
recommendation as the design was out of character with the surroundings.  This 
was seconded by Councillor Steadman.

RESOLVED
That application 19/00227/REM be REFUSED contrary to the recommendation set 
out in the report.

Page 8



9 Planning Committee : 290819

(6 in favour of refusal, 3 against, 1 abstention)

REASONS
The proposed dwelling, by virtue of its design, use of material and elevated 
position, would not be sympathetic to the character of the area, nor reflect the wider 
context of the local area or respect the local vernacular. It would therefore fail to 
conserve or enhance the Great Dalby Conservation area and would be contrary to 
Policies D1 and EN13 of the Adopted Melton Local Plan 2018 and NPPF (para. 
196).

--o0o--
Councillor Chandler left the meeting and did not return.

--o0o--

PL133 17/00299/OUT - Report Update
REPORT UPDATE: 17/00299/OUT Land west of Saltby Road and South of Mill 
Lane, Croxton Kerrial

The Assistant Director for Strategic Planning and Regulatory Services provided a 
brief summary of the report.  

During discussion the following points were noted:
i. The private rental sector was currently undergoing uncertainty, with 

landlords who are reaching retirement age leaving the market resulting in 
reduction in supply.

Councillor Illingworth proposed that the recommendations were accepted in 
accordance with the report.  This was seconded by Councillor Steadman.

RESOLVED

To AGREE to adjust the Affordable Housing contribution associated with 
application  17/00299/OUT to 32% (from 37%).
(Unanimous)

PL134 Urgent Business
There was no urgent business.

The meeting closed at: 9.00 pm

Chair

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



Advice on Members’ Interests
PERSONAL AND NON-PECUNIARY INTERESTS
If the issue being discussed affects you, your family or a close associate more than other 
people in the area, you have a personal and non-pecuniary interest.  You also have a personal  
interest if the issue relates to an interest you must register under paragraph 9 of the Members’ 
Code of Conduct.

You must state that you have a personal and non-pecuniary interest and the nature of 
your interest.  You may stay, take part and vote in the meeting.

PERSONAL AND PECUNIARY INTERESTS
If a member of the public, who knows all the relevant facts, would view your personal interest in 
the issue being discussed to be so great that it is likely to prejudice your judgement of the public 
interest and it affects your or the other person or bodies’ financial position or relates to any 
approval, consent, licence, permission or registration then you must state that you have a 
pecuniary interest, the nature of the interest and you must leave the room*.  You must not 
seek improperly to influence a decision on that matter unless you have previously obtained a 
dispensation from the Authority’s Audit and Standards Committee.  

DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTERESTS AND OTHER INTERESTS
If you are present at any meeting and you have a disclosable pecuniary interest in any 
matter to be considered or being considered at the meeting, if the interest is not already 
registered, you must disclose the interest to the meeting.  You must not participate in the 
discussion or the vote and you must leave the room.

You may not attend a meeting or stay in the room as either an Observer Councillor or *Ward 
Councillor or as a member of the public if you have a pecuniary or disclosable pecuniary 
interest*.  

BIAS 
If you have been involved in an issue in such a manner or to such an extent that the public are 
likely to perceive you to be biased in your judgement of the public interest (bias) then you 
should not take part in the decision-making process; you should leave the room.  You should 
state that your position in this matter prohibits you from taking part.  You may request 
permission of the Chair to address the meeting prior to leaving the room.  The Chair will need to 
assess whether you have a useful contribution to make or whether complying with this request 
would prejudice the proceedings.  A personal, pecuniary or disclosable pecuniary interest will 
take precedence over bias. 

In each case above, you should make your declaration at the beginning of the meeting or as 
soon as you are aware of the issue being discussed.*

*There are some exceptions – please refer to paragraphs 13(2) and 13(3) of the Code of 
Conduct

Page 11

Agenda Item 3



This page is intentionally left blank



1

18/01183/FUL  Land off  Land Off Colston Lane, Harby

Erection of 65 dwellings with associated access, landscaping, surface water 
attenuation and infrastructure. 

Applicant: Crofts Developments Limited

1. Summary:

The site is 3.6 hectares of mixed brownfield and greenfield land located outside the 
village of Harby. The adjoining site comprises of a former void dairy factory which 
has also secured permission for residential development. The land to the north west 
leads to the Grantham Canal. Mill Farm is located in close proximity opposite the 
site. The immediately surrounding area is rural in character.

Planning Committee
26 September 2019
Report of: Assistant Director of Strategic 

Planning and Reg. Services 

Page 13

Agenda Item 4.1



2

3: Reasons for Recommendation:

1. The application site is allocated for housing in the Melton Borough Local Plan and 
Neighbourhood Plan, and outline planning permission for residential development 
has previously been granted (16/00318/OUT). The principle of the development 
has therefore been established. 

2. The proposal as revised would result in a form of development that would be 
sympathetic to the character of the locality by virtue of its appearance, design, 
layout and scale and would not compromise residential amenity or be prejudicial 
to highway safety.  For these reasons, the proposal is considered to comply with 
Policy D1 of the Melton Local Plan and the design requirements of NPHAR 4 and 
5 of the Neighbourhood which requires all new development to be sympathetic to 
the character of the area in which the site is located and makes several site 
specific requirements.

2: Recommendations:

It is recommended the application is APPROVED, subject to:

(i) Completion of a S106 agreement securing :

 Appropriate  Affordable Housing to include, Mix, Number, Type and 
Distribution to meet identified local needs

 Financial contributions towards the provision of:
Education : Primary £ £267,033.60 Secondary  £182,158.17
Travel Packs : £52.85 per pack
Bus Passes : £360.00 per pass
Bus stops furniture: £460.00

 NHS Facilities (Latham House):  £41,057.33

 A proportionate financial contribution towards the provision of a new village 
hall for Harby based on the percentage increase in the number of dwellings 
within the village (£190,692.75). 

 Conditions as set out in Appendix B

S106 payments are governed by Regulation 122 of the CIL Regulations and require 
them to be necessary to allow the development to proceed, related to the 
development, to be for planning purposes, and reasonable in all other respects. It is 
considered that the above requests meet with the requirements of the Regulations.

Page 14



3

4: Key factors:

Reason for Committee Determination

This application is being considered by the Committee in view of its scale and 
significance and that it is an allocated site in both the Local Plan and Neighbourhood 
Plan. 

The application is also required to be considered by the Committee to enable 
authorisation to be given to vary the existing legal agreement concluded at the outline 
application stage with regard the amount of affordable housing provision.

Relevant Policy Context 

The planning system is plan-led. Planning law requires that applications for planning 
permission must be determined in accordance with the Development Plan, unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise.

Adopted Melton Local Plan (MLP) 2011-2036

The Melton Local Plan was adopted in October 2018 and is the Development Plan for 
the area. The land is allocated for residential purposes (Ref HAR4).  The following 
policies are relevant;

 Policy SS1 – Sustainable Development seeks to secure development 
proposals which promotes and improves economic, social and environmental 
conditions in an area;

 Policy SS2 - Development Strategy sets out how development will be 
distributed across the Borough in accordance with a spatial strategy that states 
that Service centres and Rural Hubs will accommodate up to 35% of new 
housing on a proportionate basis;

 Policy D1- Raising the Standard of Design requires all new developments to 
be of high quality design;

 Policy C1 (A) Housing Allocations - seeks to ensure that Housing proposals 
are delivered within the sites allocated within the Local Plan subject to certain 
requirements; 

 Policy HAR4

Policy HAR 4: development of site reference HAR 4 will be supported 
provided:

i. The development addresses the frontage to Colston Lane and has an 

Page 15



4

active road frontage on the approach to the village;

ii. there are biodiversity/ecology improvements within the site and there 
will be no adverse impacts to any protected species;

iii. a footpath link has been put in place linking the site to the village;

iv. the northern and western boundaries are sensitively treated with the 
addition of attractive edging, additional landscaping and sensitive and 
improved boundary treatments.

Clawson, Hose & Harby Neighbourhood Plan (NDP) Plan 2017-2036

The Neighbourhood Plan was adopted in June 2018 and allocates the site for 
residential development, subject to various design and access criteria within Policies 
NPHAR 4 and NPHAR5 as follows:

NPHAR4 & NPHAR5 Colston Lane - Development of the site will be supported 
provided:

• it is about 50 dwellings, limited to two storeys high;

• vehicular access is sited away from the bend near the retained farmhouse;

• footpath connection from the village to the site is improved;

• the layout addresses the frontage to Colston Lane, creating a rural feel;

• a new, mixed native species boundary hedge is planted;

• extra landscaping is provided to soften the north-eastern boundary;

• an internal footpath link is provided to enable connection with the adjoining site, 
NPHAR6, and the canal footbridge to the north with consideration given to sharing 
open space provision with NPHAR6;

• there are biodiversity/ecology improvements within the site.

National Planning Policy Framework (Feb 2019)

The Local Plan has been examined and it has been concluded it is compatible with 
the original NPPF 2012 version and that there are not considered to be any changes 
in the subsequent 2019 version that renders the policies applicable to this application 
to be considered ‘out of date’.

Relevant History

The site is allocated for residential development in the Melton Local Plan ref HAR4.

16/00318/OUT  -  Outline application for the erection of 50 dwellings with associated 

Page 16



5

access, landscaping and infrastructure at Land Around Sherbrook House and Millway 
Foods, Colston Lane, Harby - permitted subject to the completion of an agreement 
under S106 for the quantities set out in the above report to secure:

 Contribution to sustainable transport options

 Contribution to primary education 

 Contribution to provision of village hall

 Contribution to maintenance of public open space ( or alternatively conditions ) 

 The provision of affordable housing, including the quantity, tenure, house 
type/size and occupation criteria to ensure they are provided to meet identified 
local needs

Adjoining Site (Millway Foods)

15/00673/OUT Planning permission for the development of the adjacent Millway 
Foods site with 53 dwellings granted on appeal in December 2016 now identified as 
an allocated site (LP Ref HAR3), in the Melton Local Plan.

Main Issues

The key issues for this application are considered to be:

 Principle of development and the increased number of units

 Impact of appearance, layout and scale upon the character of the area

 Impact upon residential amenities

 Transportation

Other Issues

 Drainage

5: Report Detail: 

5.1  Principle of development

Members will recall that an outline application for 50 units on the site (Ref: 
16/00318/OUT) was granted planning permission on the site. The principle of the 
development was established with this decision and by virtue of its allocation in both 
Local and Neighbourhood Plan.. 

Page 17



6

The scheme is to considered to be in accordance with Policies set out within 
SS2 and C1(A) (site allocations) of the Melton Local Plan. 

With regard to the acceptability of the current full application details, this is 
addressed below, where the proposal is assessed against the other relevant policies 
of the Melton Local Plan.  

5.2  Impact of general appearance, design, layout, scale upon the character of 
the existing landscape and surrounding countryside
 
Policy D1 of the Melton Local Plan requires new development to be of high quality 
design.  In rural areas the revised NPPF requires planning decisions to be 
responsive to local circumstances and support housing proposals that reflect local 
need. The NPPF identifies the creation of high quality places and buildings as being 
fundamental to what good planning should achieve.  Good design in turn is viewed 
as a key aspect of sustainable development. The revised NPPF specifically requires 
design quality to be considered throughout the evolution and assessment of 
individual proposals and has sought to strengthen design policy particularly to aid 
housing delivery. Developments are required to be visually attractive as a result of 
good architecture, layout, and appropriate and effective landscaping. The revised 
NPPF states that planning permission should be refused for development of poor 
design.  Just as importantly, the NPPF requires planning authorities to ensure that 
the quality of approved developments does not become materially diminished 
between permission and completion, as a result of changes being made to the 
permitted scheme. 

Policy HAR4 of the Local Plan which allocates the site sets out various requirements 
in terms of layout and design these include the following:

 The development should address  the frontage to Colston Lane and has an 
active road frontage on the approach to the village;

 Securing biodiversity/ecological improvements within the site;
 A footpath link be put in place linking the site to the village;
 The northern and southern boundaries be sensitively treated with improved 

boundary treatments and landscaping;

Neighbourhood Plan Policies NPHAR 4 and 5 are similar in content setting out 
various design and layout criteria (see section 4 above).

In assessing this proposal, with regards to layout, the development seeks to build on 
the illustrative layout plan considered at the outline stage. The site in part is marked 
by mature hedging/planting and trees forming an established boundary. This 
development would have an important impact on the rural character of the area and 
the proposals would alter the appearance of the application site. 

The applicant’s view is that the submitted housing scheme is of a sufficient quality. 
Notwithstanding this view, Officers have sought and secured design changes to the 
appearance and layout of the scheme which include the following;

- Introduction of  dummy chimneys to help break up the roofscapes and 
individual blocks;

Page 18



7

- Provision of diversity to the scheme by introducing  a variety of front entrance 
doors with a variety of  styles and colours; 

- Consideration has also been given to the introduction of more and different 
external surfacing materials; and

- More space and consideration given to enhanced planting and biodiversity 

The development essentially consists of predominantly two-storey dwellings 
arranged around a main vehicular access point leading to a series of cul de sacs and 
private driveways. The plot sizes remain largely uniform in terms of scale, design 
and appearance. The scale of the development on this agricultural piece of land is 
considered to be acceptable.  

The proposed housing would need to be viewed in the context of the existing village 
of Harby. The revised layout follows basic design principles and the current 
development is seeking to provide an attractive frontage along the street creating a 
defined street scale as promoted within the Local and Neighbourhood Plans. Space 
has also been designed to allow for enhanced tree planting and general planting 
which can be controlled by condition. On the whole the layout maintains a back to 
back relationship which allows for adequate levels of privacy for future residents. 
Each dwelling would benefit from having its own usable sized private garden. With 
regard to appearance the proposed dwellings would be two-storey and of modern 
appearance and of brick and tiled construction. Care would need to be taken with the 
materials to be used on the external elevations, however this can also be addressed 
by condition. Details of the chimneys and their numbers also need to be controlled.   

The scheme was reviewed by an independent design panel (OPUN), the applicants 
have responded positively. The applicant’s Design Team undertook further design 
work to strengthen the proposals. The OPUN review stressed the importance of 
undertaking a strategic approach to the open spaces, this has resulted in a 
development strategy towards dealing with the delivery of improved landscaping 
particularly on the southern part of the site. Additional planting would be provided 
along the boundary to filter views of the proposed development with a view to 
creating an “an attractive gateway to the village”. Following a design meeting with 
the applicant’s advisors, Members should also note that a pedestrian connection to 
the Grantham canal has been introduced, running along the site boundary adjacent 
to the Dairy site, allowing for future pedestrian connections to the Dairy Site, when it 
is developed in the future. This link through the centre of the site, would effectively 
connect Colston Lane to the open space/sustainable drainage area in the north and 
this feature is a requirement of Neighbourhood Plan Policy NPHAR 4 and 5. This link 
is denoted through the use of feature tree planting that provides focal features 
enticing people through the site, via a new central open space. The revised details 
have also led to an agreement that the north western part of the site would be 
retained in open form to safeguard views of the site to retain the natural, rural 
character of this area of the countryside. 

A reasonable sized communal open space has been centrally located as a feature 
and this would be overlooked by surrounding houses. It is anticipated by the 
applicants that this would provide “opportunities to include seating and areas of 
natural play”. Personal safety and natural surveillance are to be incorporated as part 

Page 19



8

of the overall final design solution. The applicants have agreed to provide 
ornamental hedging as the key boundary treatment to the front of plots where they 
face streets. Care has been taken to improve connectivity both within and externally 
to Harby, including the footpath connection referred to in Polices NPHAR 4 and 5 . 
These alterations are considered to be acceptable, and accord with the overall aims 
and objections of policy D1. 

5.3 Layout 

The applicant’s advisors point out that the layout has been specifically revised “to 
ensure buildings end key views, such as the position of plots 44/43, 50, 25-27 and 
13. The layout also attempts to introduce a looser built form, akin to the character of 
Harby, by breaking up some of the more formal runs of dwellings found within the 
original scheme. The build line is more organic, following the line of the proposed 
streets, where appropriate. 

It is concluded that the proposal as revised has been largely designed to fit in its 
surrounding context.  This revised scheme seeks to respect the visual relationships 
of its immediate locality. The principle of residential development has been 
previously accepted and the proposal with safeguarding conditions is considered 
acceptable and in accordance with Policy D1 and the relevant parts of HAR4. The 
revised parking layout complies with the Highway Authorities standards. Additional 
spaces for visitors have been provided within the site. 

5.4 Transportation Matters

The applicants would continue to propose to provide vehicular access located off 
Colston Lane as approved by the outline planning permission. This is away from the 
bend as specified by Neighbourhood Plan Policy NPHAR4 and 5. This would operate 
as the sole point of access. The proposed revised internal access arrangements 
would lead to a series of cul – de - sacs being provided within the site to serve the 
proposed development.  Discussions have taken place with the Local Highway 
Authority and they have no significant concerns to prevent permission being granted.  
The street typologies and parking strategy has been reviewed to ensure they meet 
County Highways standards.  Details of the vehicular access arrangements are 
considered to be acceptable. Parking meets or exceeds standards, with 3 bedroom 
houses mostly provided with 3 spaces in accordance with Neighbourhood Plan 
Policy T4 ‘Parking’.

5.5 Affordable Housing 

A S106 agreement will be required to secure affordable housing on the site. The 
submitted details indicate affordable units would be provided to include both for 
social rent and for intermediate housing.  The applicants have been made aware by 
Planning and Housing Policy Officers that your Committee would wish to see a good 
mix including affordable home ownership types. This would include provision for 
shared ownership, discounted market sale and starter homes. The applicant’s 
advisors have agreed to this in writing (14 rented and 6 intermediate housing) are 
currently being offered, but 21 affordable houses comprising a mix of 15 affordable 

Page 20



9

rent,  2 x shared ownership; 2 x discounted market sale and 2 x starter homes is 
currently proposed, dispersed in 3 separate small groupings across the site and with 
‘local connection’ occupation criteria in accordance with LP policy C3 and 
Neighbourhood Plan Policy H6 ‘Affordable Housing’.

5.6 Increase in Numbers and Quantity above the NP policy allocation

This application seeks to increase the number of dwellings from that approved at 
outline stage from 50 units to 65 dwellings. This has been achieved primarily by 
increasing the number of properties fronting along Colston Lane. Concern has been 
expressed that the numbers of units proposed in this scheme do not reflect those in 
the Neighbourhood Plan for the area (stated as ‘about 50’) or the outline consent, 
and suggest this would result in a policy conflict. 

The site is allocated within the adopted Local Plan, and it is considered that the 
increase in the number of dwellings achieves a better design in terms of layout than 
that which would be achieved by fewer dwellings on the site. 

The housing mix has been primarily amended to increase the amount of two bed 
dwellings, remove the 5 bed dwelling and to ensure the affordable housing is policy 
compliant in these respects. This will more closely meet the housing mix objectives 
within both the adopted Local Plan and Neighbourhood Plan, including the desire for 
bungalows and priority given to dwellings of 1, 2 and 3 bedrooms expressed in 
Neighbourhood Plan policy N5 (Housing Mix): 78% of the site meeting this 
description. In addition, the house types have also been reviewed to ensure they 
comply with the national internal space standards. The revised layout would seek to 
maximise the land use as advocated by the NPPF. 

The housing mix proposed comprises:

4 x 1 bedroom

21 x 2 bedroomed

26 x 3 bedroomed

14 x 4+ bedrooms; 

which includes provision of 4 x 1 and 2 bedroomed bungalows.

Legislation sets out that where Plans are in conflict with one another on a policy 
matter, the most recent document should take precedence (s38(5) of the Planning 
and Compulsory Purchase Act 2014). In this instance the Local Plan is most recent 
(October 2018), the NP being adopted in June 2018.

The question of the capacity of individual sites was raised in the Local Plan 

Page 21



10

Examination in February 2018. The Inspector concluded in general terms as follows;

93. The detailed site policies in Appendix A of the Plan are, for the most part, 
sufficient for their purpose. The Plan should be read as a whole, and planning 
applications on the sites will be assessed accordingly. Where necessary I have 
recommended MMs to Appendix A. Also, the capacity figures listed in Policy 
C1(A and B) and Appendix A for each site allocation are not intended as 
targets to be achieved or caps that should not be exceeded. Rather, they are 
indicative figures only, based on the best available evidence, including planning 
permissions as at 31 March 2018 and the ASF3 appeal decision (see paragraphs 
100-101 below), and where relevant, they will be tested through detailed planning 
applications in due course.

95. The housing targets for the settlements are not intended as a ceiling, and 
detailed proposals for both the C1(A) and C1(B) sites will be considered on their 
merits against the relevant policies.

With regard to Harby, Hose and Long Clawson specifically the conclusion was as 
follows:

108. Each of these settlements has its own distinct identity but they share a number 
of services and are within the same NP area. The estimated capacities of the 
submitted Plan’s allocations in these settlements exceed their residual requirements, 
and in the case of Harby and Long Clawson, by a significant extent.

109. In this context, I have considered whether HAR5 is required as a reserve site. 
However, the Plan is sound in seeking to ensure that there will be sufficient delivery 
of housing to meet needs over the Plan period, and the reserve site provides an 
appropriate level of flexibility in this regard. And while the PolicyC1(A) allocations in 
Harby have a capacity for about 128 dwellings, there is no convincing evidence 
that this scale of growth could not be adequately serviced or that it would be 
unsustainable in other respects.

On the basis of the above, the design and housing mix proposed and that no 
evidence has been submitted to demonstrate that development at this scale (either 
individually or cumulatively) could not be serviced or becomes unsustainable, it is 
considered that  exceedance of the limit identified in the Neighbourhood plan is 
justified.

5.7 Sustainable attenuation works

In addition to the housing, the layout plan indicates an area for the sustainable 
attenuation works/ponds/swales to be provided in the North western corner of the 
site. This area also offers an opportunity to enhance the site and provide 
opportunities for biodiversity improvements. The details of its appearance and design 
can be controlled by conditions. With regard to the landscaping of this element the 
applicants have accepted the need to provide enhanced landscaping and boundary 
treatment including the provision of good quality street trees to prevent the scheme 
looking sparse and urban in form. This matter has been conditioned. 

Page 22



11

Other Issues 

5.8 Impact upon residential amenities

It is considered that the proposal would comply with Policy D1 of the Melton Local 
Plan which requires new development to ensure that the amenity of future occupiers 
and of neighbouring properties should not be compromised. The proposals ensure 
that a minimum back to back distance of 20m is achieved throughout in order to 
protect residential amenity space, and where a principal window of a habitable room 
is directed to face the blank wall of a neighbouring dwelling, the distance between 
the two dwellings is a minimum of 12m.  Whilst these circumstances are not ideal, 
taking the scheme as a whole they are considered to be acceptable.

5.9 Drainage/Foul Water

The Local Lead Flood Authority subject to conditions raise no objections to the 
details submitted in the revised plans.  The Environment Agency has no objections.

5.10 Sustainability

Concern has been raised on this issue by local residents. Members will be aware of 
the appeal decision relating to the adjoining Millway Foods site. The Inspector in 
considering this matter, noted that the site was within walking distance of Harby, 
where some services were available, there was also a reasonable bus service 
providing links to larger centres offering employment and other opportunities which 
adjoins the application site and concluded the site would be in sustainable location.  
In considering this issue, it is accepted that routes would be improved and the 
proposal would help improve sustainability in the locality and would eventually 
enhance and seek to enhance the vitality and the surrounding rural community.   

5.11  Conclusion

The previous outline planning permission and allocation within both parts of the 
Development Plan (LP and NP taken together) established the principle of the nature 
and form of the development proposed. It is considered that the revised proposals 
have been designed to be reasonably sympathetic to the local character and it would 
not result in the creation of an unpleasant neighbourhood subject to conditions 
securing further details. 

The submitted details relating to the layout, design, landscaping and external 
appearance are considered acceptable in principle. It is considered that the 
proposal would comply with Policy D1 of the Melton Local Plan and NPHAR4 & 
NPHAR5 which requires new development to be of high quality design and to 
be sympathetic to the character of the area and the aims and objectives of the 
revised NPPF.

The development is considered acceptable for the following reasons;
 The principle of residential development is supported  on policy grounds with 

Page 23



12

an outline consent and the site has been allocated in both the Local Plan and 
Neighbourhood Plan for housing;

 The development would deliver local housing need; and
 It would deliver a mix of market and affordable housing.
 It adequately satisfied the site specific requirements of Policies HAR4 and 

NPHAR 4 and 5.

Consultation & Feedback 

Surrounding occupiers were notified and notices posted.

9 letters of  objections were received these can be summarised as follows;

 The traffic generation from the proposed development has not been properly 
considered, it would be prejudicial to highway safety and the Transport 
Statement is inaccurate;

 Proposal is not a sustainable form of development;

 Number of units are inappropriate for the village and greater then initially 
planned for and should not be permitted;

 Proposal would adversely affect the biodiversity of the locality;

 Increased pressure would be placed on amenities and the village school;

 Proposal along with other allocated sites would have a cumulative detrimental 
affect;

 Conflicting evidence has been submitted within the supporting documentation;

 It conflicts with the allocation in the Neighbourhood Plan;

 The proposed materials and the general appearance and design lacks 
diversity;

 Village is already providing more then its share of new housing;

 Proposal would undermine social cohesion and faith in the Neighbourhood 
Planning Process; and

 A significant contribution for education provision should be sought;

Page 24



13

Financial Implications:

Legal costs for preparing the S106 Planning Agreement (to be borne by the 
applicant)

Background Papers:

Planning Application File 16/00318/OUT  -  Outline application for the erection of 50 
dwellings with associated access, landscaping and infrastructure

Appendices:

A: Summary of Statutory Consultation responses
B: Planning Conditions
C: List of Planning Policies

Report Timeline:

Report Author: Reddy Nallamilli - Development Management

: 01664 502427 

Appendix A : Summary of Statutory Consultation responses 
Parish Council (NB no comments received in relation to final amendments, Aug.  
2019)

The Parish Council has the following objections to the amended plans for this 
application:

 It is contrary to the Neighbourhood Plan policies

 H2 which supports about 50 dwellings, not 61;

 H5 Site does not include any bungalows which are classed a priority;

 H7 b) Affordable housing should be mixed in with the private housing to reflect 

Assistant Director Approval              17th September 2019

Page 25



14

village diversity;

 H7 l) No close boarded fencing to be used

 ENV4 A hedge should be planted to divide the site from the Old Dairy site;

 No indication is given as to who will own and maintain the play area and 
SUDS; For safety a post and rail should be put around the SUDS;

 Application does not include street lighting. Street lighting should be identical 
to other lighting in Harby and should be maintained by LCC not the Parish 
Council

In addition, various comments made should the application be amended to circa 50 
dwellings

LCC Archaeology

Raise no objections to the revised scheme and additional information subject to 
conditions.

LCC – Lead Local Flood  Authority 

Revised Submission

Sufficient revised details have been submitted to advise that the proposed 
development would be considered acceptable subject to safeguarding planning 
conditions being attached.

LCC Ecology

The site contains no significant habitats of value. The site could provide opportunities 
for biodiversity enhancement sufficient details and a 10m buffer area between the 
development and Grantham Canal should be maintained. 

LCC – Highway Authority 

Original submission 

Satisfied that the development would not increase the Highway Safety risk and the 
impact from the increased trip generation is considered acceptable.

The internal road layout is not up to adoptable standards and further plans are 
requested to ensure that the internal road work meet with their adoption standards. 
So marking spaces are below standard and visibility splays will need to be provided. 

Contributions expected towards bus stop improvements and travel packs and 6 
month bus passes.

Revised Layout

Page 26



15

Request amended plan requiring visibility splays to be provided. 

LCC – Access Officer 

Original submission 

No objection 

LCC – Developers Contributions 

Original submission 

Financial contributions are expected for the following;

Libraries, Education facilities.

Severn Trent Water 

Original submission 

Condition requested to deal with surface water and foul water drainage

Environment Agency 

No objection. 

MBC – Environment Health

Original submission 

Advise conditions relating to contamination related matters are attached.

MBC – Building Control 

Proposal appears to provide suitable access for both fire and waste services

Leicestershire Police – Designing out crime officer 

Original Submission

No objections raised to the principle of the layout it is  considered to be permeable, 
advises applicant to consider crime deterrent features and if appropriate S106 
contributions

East Leicestershire & Rutland Clinical Commissioning Group

Original Submission

Request financial contributions towards improvements 

Canal  & River Trust 

Revised Submission

No further comment to make

OPUN Architecture East Midlands

Page 27



16

Having reviewed the initial submission advised the following should be considered;

- Development of a comprehensive landscape strategy;

- Establishment of a tree strategy;

- Strengthen the approach to drainage;

- Create hierarchy of open spaces;

- Ensure a landscape led approach;

- Improve pedestrian connectivity;

- Redesign the layout and appearance of the houses to reflect the character of 
the village;

Harby Village Hall Committee of Management
The committee has produced a proposal for a new village hall. The formula which it 
sets out and can be viewed on file has been applied to and accepted in recent 
planning decisions in Harby, including the outline permission granted on this site in 
2017. This proposal would increase the number of dwellings in the village of Harby 
by 15.66%. Based on the known cost of the construction of a new village hall, this 
would equate to £190,692.75 (15.66% of the known build cost of £1,217,706.00).

Appendix B : Summary of conditions

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun no later than three years 
from the date of this permission. 

REASON:  In order to comply with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town 
and Country Planning Act, 1990, s amended by Section 51 OF THE Planning 
and Compulsory Act 2004.

2. The matters hereby granted shall be completed strictly in accordance with the    
following approved plans and details;

 Site Location Plan P18_0766_001

 Planning Layout P18_0766_003 REV F

 Site Section P18_0766_007 

 Design and Access Statement P18_0766_200 REV A

 Illustrative Landscape Masterplan P18_0766_10A REV A

 House Type Pack P18_0766_201 REV A

      Reason: For the avoidance of doubt.

Page 28



17

3. Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted, details of 
the materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the 
development hereby permitted shall be submitted to the Local Planning 
Authority in writing for approval. Sample panels of the proposed surfacing 
materials (Brickwork and tiles) at a least a metre squared (showing where 
appropriate the proposed coursing, method of pointing and colour of mortar) 
shall be erected on for consideration and subsequent approval. The panels 
shall be retained on site until the completion of the works. The development 
shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details. 

Reason: To protect the visual amenities of the locality and comply with Policy 
D1 Adopted Melton Local Plan (MLP) 2011-2036 and comply with the aims 
and objectives of the NPPF. 

4. Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted, details of 
the design,  appearance,  positioning and numbers of chimneys  to be used in 
the construction of the individual dwellings of the development hereby 
permitted shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority in writing for 
approval. The development shall be implemented in accordance with the 
approved details. 

Reason: To protect the visual amenities of the locality and comply with Policy 
D1 Adopted Melton Local Plan (MLP) 2011-2036 and comply with the aims 
and objectives of the NPPF. 

5. Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted, details of a 
soft and hard landscaping scheme shall be submitted in writing to the Local 
Planning Authority for written approval.  The scheme shall include the 
following;

a) Fully annotated planting plans showing the locations of individually planted 
semi – mature trees (which shall include Tilia Cordata Greenspire and Tilia 
Cordorta Rancho, shrubs and hedging. Other information shall include 
planting schedules, noting species, plant sizes and proposed numbers and 
densities, method of cultivation and details of the proposed planting 
implementation programme;

b) A five year aftercare scheme for the landscape management plan and 
maintenance which shall provide a replacement tree of the same species 
and size as that originally planted within a period of 5 years from its day of 
planting, is uprooted, removed or is destroyed or dies  or in the opinion of 
the Local Planning Authority becomes seriously damaged or defective;

c) Details of the treatment  of all parts on the site not covered by buildings;

d)  Details of the sting, appearance and design of bird/bat brick/boxes to be 
incorporated in to the development;

e) Details of the layout, design, biodiversity enhancement, boundary treatment 
and planting for the swales/drainage infrastructure;

f) Details of the surfacing materials for the pedestrian circulation areas, paths, 

Page 29



18

internal access road and parking spaces.

The permitted development shall thereafter be implemented in accordance 
with the approved details.

Reason: To protect the visual amenities of the locality and comply with Policy 
D1 Adopted Melton Local Plan (MLP) 2011-2036 and comply with the aims 
and objectives of the NPPF. 

6. The approved landscaping details agreed in Condition 5 above shall be 
implemented in full no later than the end of the first planting season available 
after the development hereby permitted being bought into first occupation.

Reason: To secure the satisfactory development of the site and comply with 
Policy D1 Adopted Melton Local Plan (MLP) 2011-2036 and comply with the 
aims and objectives of the NPPF. 

7. Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted, a 
Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development 
shall then be carried out in accordance in accordance with the approved 
CEMP. The CEMP shall be carried out in accordance shall be carried out in 
accordance but not necessarily be restricted to the following details; 

a) Details of the siting of all vehicles of site operatives and visitors;

b) The location of, extent and duration of any temporary stockpiling areas;

c) Measures to prevent mud and debris being deposited on the surrounding 
highway;

d) A site waste Management Plan

e) A Traffic Management Plan incorporating the routing construction  traffic 
details of heavy vehicle movements patterns (including the earliest and 
latest times and suspension of trips during peak local traffic times);

f) Details of the parking and siting of all vehicles of site operatives and 
visitors on a scaled plan; 

g) A tree protection plan 

h) A Programme of implementation  for items a- g

Reason: To secure the satisfactory development of the site, to reduce the 
possibility of deleterious material (mud, stones etc.) being deposited in the 
highway and becoming a hazard for road users, to ensure that construction 
traffic does not use unsatisfactory roads and lead to on-street parking 
problems in the area, protect amenities and comply with Policy D1 Adopted 
Melton Local Plan (MLP) 2011-2036 and comply with the aims and objectives 
of the NPPF. 

Page 30



19

8. No external related construction activities shall take place outside the hours of 
08:00 to 17:30 Mondays to Fridays or between 09:00 to 14:00 hours on 
Saturdays. No such operations shall take place at any time on Sundays or 
Bank/Public Holidays.  

Reason: To secure the satisfactory development of the site and comply with 
Policy D1 Adopted Melton Local Plan (MLP) 2011-2036 and comply with the 
aims and objectives of the NPPF. 

9. Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted, details of 
or surface water drainage scheme for the site, based on sustainable drainage 
principles and the disposal of foul water drainage shall be submitted to the 
Local Planning Authority in writing for approval. The development shall then 
be implemented in full in accordance with the approved details. 

Reason: To prevent the increased risk of flooding, secure the satisfactory 
development of the site and comply with Policy D1 Adopted Melton Local 
Plan (MLP) 2011-2036 and comply with the aims and objectives of the NPPF.

10.Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town & Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development Order 2015 or any Order amending, revoking and/or 
re-enacting that Order, with or without modification. No extension or 
alterations relating to Class A, B, C & E of Part 1 of Schedule 2 or Part 2 
Class A of Schedule 2 shall be erected without the prior written consent of the 
Local Panning Authority.  

Reason: To secure the satisfactory development of the site, protect 
residential amenity and comply with Policy D1 Adopted Melton Local Plan 
(MLP) 2011-2036 and comply with the aims and objectives of the NPPF.

11.  No part of the development hereby permitted shall be occupied until such 
time as the access arrangements shown on BWB drawing numberHBY-BWB-
GEN-XX-DR-TR-101_S2_P5 have been implemented in full. 

Reason: To ensure that vehicles entering and leaving the site may pass each 
other clear of the highway, in a slow and controlled manner, in the interests of 
general highway safety and in accordance with the National Planning Policy 
Framework (2019). 

12.  No part of the development hereby permitted shall be occupied until such 
time as 1.0 metre by 1.0 metre pedestrian visibility splays have been provided 
at each private drive access adjacent to the highway with nothing within those 
splays higher than 0.6 metres above the level of the adjacent 
footway/verge/highway and, once provided, shall be so maintained in 
perpetuity. 

Reason: In the interests of pedestrian safety and in accordance with the 
National Planning Policy Framework (2019).

13.  The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until such time as 
the parking and turning facilities have been implemented in accordance with 
Pegasus drawing number P18-0766_003 Rev F. Thereafter the onsite parking 

Page 31



20

provision shall be so maintained in perpetuity. 

Reason To ensure that adequate off-street parking provision is made to 
reduce the possibility of the proposed development leading to on-street 
parking problems locally and to enable vehicles to enter and leave the site in 
a forward direction in the interests of highway safety and in accordance with 
the National Planning Policy Framework (2019). 

14.Notwithstanding the submitted plans, any garage doors shall be set back from 
the highway boundary a minimum distance of 5.5 metres for sliding or 
roller/shutter doors/ 6.1 metres for up-and-over doors / 6.5 metres for doors 
opening outwards and thereafter shall be so maintained. 

Reason: To enable a vehicle to stand clear of the highway whilst the garage / 
car port doors are opened/closed, to protect the free and safe passage of 
traffic, including pedestrians, in the public highway, to ensure that adequate 
off street parking provision is available to reduce the possibility of on street 
parking problems locally and in accordance with the National Planning Policy 
Framework (2019). 

15.  No part of the development shall be occupied until such time as the offsite 
works, being the provision of a 2m wide footway between the site access and 
the access to the sewage works on the southern side of Colston Lane, 
including a tactile crossing point as indicatively shown on BWB drawing 
numberHBY-BWB-GEN-XX-DR-TR-101_S2_P5 have been implemented in 
full. 

Reason: To mitigate the impact of the development, in the general interests of 
highway safety and in accordance with the National Planning Policy 
Framework (2019). 

16.The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until such time as 
the access drive and any turning space has been surfaced with hard bound 
material (not loose aggregate) for a distance of at least 15 metres behind the 
highway boundary and, once provided, shall be so maintained in perpetuity. 

Reason: To reduce the possibility of deleterious material being deposited in 
the highway (loose stones etc.) in the interests of highway safety and in 
accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (2019).

17.Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted, a detailed 
scheme for the investigation and recording of contamination and a report has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The submitted details in relation to the “Contamination Proposals”  should 
include to the reference to the following;

a) Detailed proposals in line with current best practice for the removal, 
containment or otherwise rendering harmless such contamination (“the 
Contamination Proposals”); 

b) For each part of the development, the “Contamination Proposals”   relevant to 
that individual element shall be carried shall be carried out either before or 

Page 32



21

during such development as appropriate in line with current best practice;

c) If during development works any contamination should be encountered  which 
was not previously identified  and derived from a different source and/or 
different to those included in “Contamination Proposals”  then the  revised 
“the Contamination Proposals”   shall be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority;

d) If during the development work site contaminants are found in areas 
previously expected to be clean then their remediation shall be carried out in 
line with the agreed “Contamination Proposals”  ;

e) Prior to the commencement of any construction works in any area that has 
been subject to remediation, a verification   report shall be submitted in writing 
to the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure the site is appropriately decontaminated, to secure the 
satisfactory development of the site and comply with Policy D1 Adopted 
Melton Local Plan (MLP) 2011-2036 and comply with the aims and objectives 
of the NPPF.

Appendix C : Applicable Development Plan Policies

Local Plan

 Policy SS1 Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development. 
 Policy SS2 Development Strategy
 Policy C1 (A) – Housing Allocations
 Policy C2 Housing Mix - seeks to manage the delivery of a mix of house 

types, tenures and sizes to balance the current housing offer; 
 Policy C4 Affordable Housing Provision -  seeks to ensure that the provision 

of affordable housing is made against an application of more than 10 
dwellings;

 Policy EN2 – Biodiversity & Geodiversity seeks to achieve net gains  for 
nature and seeks habitat creation as part of all new development proposals;

 Policy EN8 – Climate Change states all new development proposals will be 
required to demonstrate how the need to mitigate and adapt to climate 
change has been considered:

  Policy EN9:-  Energy Efficiency/ Low Carbon developments required to 
demonstrate  how carbon emissions have been reduced;

 Policy EN11 - Minimizing Flood Risk seeks to ensure development proposals 
do not increase flood risk and will seek to reduce flood risk to others:

 Policy EN12 – Sustainable Drainage Systems seeks to ensure that properties 
are not at risk from surface water flooding allowing for climate change effects.

 Policy IN2: Transport, Accessibility and Parking
 Appendix 1 Policy HAR4 (see section 4 above)

Page 33



22

Neighbourhood Plan Policies:
 NPHAR4 and NPHAR5 – site allocation
 NP POLICY H5: housing mix
 NP POLICY H6: affordable housing provision 
 NP POLICY H7: housing design
 HOUSING POLICY H8: street lighting and light pollution
 POLICY T3: pavements, footpaths, cycle and bridleways
 POLICY T4: parking

Other
 Affordable Housing and Housing Mix SPD (July 2019)

Page 34


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	3 Declarations of Interest
	4.1 18/01183/FUL

